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(4) THE LATE MEDIEVAL CHURCH

-

Four lights are mentioned in wills of 1537-1546 (see M.J. Greet, Bulletin 4
pp 7-12). These were the high altar or sacrament light, Our Lady's light,
the rood light, and the herse lights.

The sacrament was reserved, either on or above the high altar, perhaps in a
hanging pyx. The Lady light (distinct from the high altar light) was in the
chantry. There is no trace of a rood stair or screen on the present tower,
and the fashion for such screens did not come in till the mid 15th century.
So if our tower were built ¢.1380, then our rood was probably a crucifix
hung in front of the chancel arch, with a hanging or standing light below it,
(This would not incommode the parishioners; they would not have gone to the
high altar to communicate more than once or twice a year). Herse lights

were placed round the herse while a corpse was being waked. It was customary
for a burial service to be in three parts, vespers of the dead overnight,
dirige or dirge at matins very early, requiem mass and committal in the
morning.

Besides the money left in wills for lights at or after a funeral, there was
half an acre of land in Naunton field just within the bounds of Charlton,
given for maintenance of a taper in the church. In 1548 this land was held
at will by Thomas Dowdswell, subject to payment of 6d a year to the church,
It would once have suificed to buy a paschal candle.

The last chantry priest, Sir William Hall, and probably his predecessors
too, had been accustomed to assist the priest in charge, the curate, because
the population had grown. There were said to be 300 houseling people (ie
communicants) in Charlton and 600 in Cheltenham (see M.J. Greet, Bulletin

5 pp 10-11). This is not a very clear guide to total population because
medieval bishops rarely visited their dioceses and children over 8 may have
been allowed to receive communion without waiting for confirmation. However,
it seems clear that our chantry priest baptised, administered the last rites,
and buried parishioners whenever it was inconvenient for a priest from
Cheltenham to do it; though references in wills show that a "curate" (ie the
man with cure of souls) was often present to witness a will, usually made

in anticipation of approaching death (see M.J. Greet, Bulletin 4 p 15).
Officially all fees were paid to Cirencester until 1539; after that burial
fees presumably to the fermours. But it is not improbable that the chantry
priest received the occasional honorarium which Hall did not feel obliged
to mention in 1548. He became curate himself then and served Chariton till
¢.1553. For him, £10 a year secure was a great advance on 10s 0d a year
plus the occasional gift. As far as qualifications went, he was as well
trained as most priests even if he could not repeat the commandments in
English (see M.J. Greet, Bulletin 5 pp 10-11).

The chantry endowment, a messuage and 113 acres of land, was bought up by

a group of parishioners and held in trust for the benefit of the poor (see
the 1617 survey of Cheltemham manor, GRO D 855 M 7). Like all property which
had passed through the Court of Augmentations, 0ld Church House was held of
the manor of East Greenwich, by fealty only. It was a very fine timber-
framed building, as we can see from a sketch {(page 25) done in July 1824,
only three years before the house was pulled down at a cost to the parish

of £20.12.10. All through the Middle Ages, Gloucestershire had been part

of the diocese of Worcester; and Charliton wills of the early 16th century
frequently leave small sums to the Mother Church at Worcester. But one of
Henry VIII's imnovations was the creation of the new diocese of Gloucester -
the first bishop was consecrated in September 1541 - and henceforward it

was the bishop of Gloucester whose interest had to be sought.
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{5) THE CHURCH IN THE 16-17th CENTURY

When Cirencester was dissolved in 1539, all its property came into the hands
of the king, including whatever lodging the Canons had had in Cheltenham. He
and his successors granted various leases of the rectory and advowson, only
stipulating that the lessees or fermours should find two chaplains and two
deacons, paying what stipends they thought fit, and provide necessaries for
communion, bell-ropes, and strawings. As no definite figure for the stipend
was set, the lessees naturally appointed men willing to accept the lowest
amount on which a cleric could live, considering that no vicarage of any
sort was provided in either parish. Such clerics would not he graduates of
a University and only graduates were allowed to preach. So Cheltenham and
Charlton had to listen Sunday by Sunday to homilies from the authorised
Books of Homilies issued in 1547 and 1571. There were 12 in the first book
and 21 in the second; the congregations got heartily sick of them all. (For
1571 titles, see the 39 Articles in BCP).

Clerical marriage was permitted under Elizabeth, but no incumbent on £10-15
a year without a dwelling could afford a wife and family unless he had private
means.

By 1560 8t. Marys had lost its pyx, its rood, its lights, and any wall paintings
it may have had on its plastered walls. There cannot have been a Doom over

the chancel arch - the space is far too small ~ but there could have been a
Christopher cver the north doorway. We were not wealthy in the 15th century

and are unlikely to have had much stained glass. In place of the wall paintings,
all churches were ordered to provide boards with the Creed and Ten Commandments
written up large for the benefit of a more literate congregation. A bible in
English must have been bought in 1538 and successive English prayerbooks,

Medieval chalices were very small because only the priest communicated in both
kinds. Under Elizabeth we had to provide ourselves with a communion cup, large
enough for all Easter communicants - the old chalice was probably handed over
to the silversmith as part of the price.

We don't know what the parishioners thought about having the Bible and services
in English - reactions were probably mixed. But we did want proper sermons,

and this may have prompted bequests in 1611 and 1612 for buying a decent pulpit
cloth or cushion (GRO Wills 1611/6 and 1612/8). We certainly had no leanings
towards puritanism in 1624 (when the bishop and Sir Baptist Hicks wanted to
foist a puritanically-minded minister on us) - dancing to a drum in time of
service, holding church ales on Sundays, and putting up a "somerpole' at
Whitsuntide were much more in our line,.

Medieval churches were not as a rule provided with pews; people took their
own stools, or walked about, or used stone ledges by the walls, or knelt at
will during service, except when the sacring bell rang to warn everyone to
kneel. Individual seats were introduced gradually and then a formal pewing
of the church in the 17th century to ensure a fair allocation of sittings. At
5t. Mary's, pews were allotted to all the ancient messuages in the parish
c.1630 (see Bulletin 13 p 21), and there were some free seats in a west
gallery.

There were bequests towards the reparation of the church in wills of ¢.1630,
and in 1630 St. Mary's got 2 new {or recast) bells. (See Parish Magazine
May 1885). If the Pates memorial in the south transept is in its original
position, as it appears to be, then the vaulting of the upper chamber must
have been removed before 1647. Perhaps the stones were used to repair the
walls and cover up the timberi framing on the outside; windows and fireplace
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and to ensure payment of adequate stipends to these ministers.

He starts the story on 27 February 1587/8, when Queen Elizabeth granted the
interest in the Rectory of Cheltenham and the anriexed Chapel of Charlton to
Sir Francis Bacon (later Lord Verulam and Viscount St. Albans) for a 40-year
term at an annual rent of £75-13-4, payable to the Queen (This was a pretty
good bargain since it appears that the value of the properties was about £600
p.a. more than the rent).

The terms of the grant included a provision that Sir Francis should maintain
at his own expense ’'two fit and able and sufficient chaplains and two deacons
to celebrate divine service in the said church and chapel ....', and provide
at his own cost 'bread, wine and other necessaries for celebration of divine
service....... and alsoc bell ropes and strawings necessary to be used in the
said church and chapel'. It is interesting to note that in later discussion
of these provisions it emerges that 'two fit, able and sufficient chaplains’
is interpreted as meaning two ministers with M.A.s from Oxford or Cambridge.

When there were still many years of the lease to run, Sir Francis conveyed

'the said term and interest in and to the said Rectory and chapel.... by

good and lawful conveyances and assurances in the law.....to Tymothy Cartwright
Daniel Fowler, Anselm Fowler, William Bayly and Henry Bayly', who held the
property in trust for Thomas Higgs, John Higgs, Robert Higgs and Elizabeth
Badgehott (or Badger) their mother. This family of Higgs had the sole use

and benefit (i.e. the £600 p.a.), except afterwards for certain tithes which
had been let for £60 p.a. to Anthony Partridge and his wife Alice. Alice
Partridge turns out to have a Higgs connection, since she was formerly the
wife of Robert Higgs, who died early in the story.

On the death of Queen Elizabeth ultimate ownership of the Rectory and Chapel
of course descended to James I, and he granted the reversion of the property
to Francis Morrice and Francis Phillips and their heirs --- in other words,
after the 40 years lease had expired in 1637, they would take over. But they,
by proper conveyance, passed on the reversion to Sir Baptist Hicks.

So now we have a chain of interested-- and disinterested-- parties: the
Monarch, the Cartwrights Fowlers and Baylys, the Higgs family, and 8ir Baptist

Hicks. And if, quite apart from any obscurity which the passages of time
draws over the matter of who actually appoints the ministers, the crucial
clause about paying the ministers gets accidently omitted in some of the legal
dealings, one can see that the stage is set for a really long argument in
which the inhabitants of Cheltenham and Charlten Kings are likely teo suffer.

Such was the case. As early as 1609 there are strong complaints to the effect
that (in the words of a later petition) '....the said cures of the said church
and chaple were and had byn very insufficiently served, and were and had byn
supplyed wth ministers and deacons of small learning and not of such sufficiency
as by the gracious meaning and intencon of the said late Queen deceased in

her Highnes said 1ltres patents was ment and intended, and that the ocasion therof
grewe by reason of the meane stipends allowed the sald ministers and deacons’,

by the Higgs family. This is the theme (the deprivation of the two parishes,
together having 2000 communicants) that was to dominate the next 15 years or

5o, and be the subject of many petitions and lawsults.

These complaints were made in about 1609 to the Bishop of Gloucester, Dr. Parry,.
Dr. Parry went to Cheltenham to persuade Mrs. Badger to give the preaching
ministers sufficient stipends in accordance with the covenants, but he 'could
not wynne her either by fayre meanes or threates'. He therefore petitioned the
Lord Treasurer, rehearsing the terms of the covenant and pointing out that Mrs.
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Badger was only paying £10 p.a. each to two reading curates, and 26s 8d p.a.
each to two lay deacons; this was inadequate for two parishes amounting to at
least 2000 communicants. At some stage the Bishop agreed that £20 p.a. was
acceptable for the stipends for the time being, until Mrs. Badger had discharged
some debts. 5She appears to have promised to increase the amount to £40. Then
the Bishop was transferred to Worcester, and the Lord Treasurer died; the
parsonages were sold to contractors and the covenants were omitted, though two
of the contractors said they would bind anyone buying the rectory to perform the
covenants. '

Sir Baptist Hicks then bought the reversion of the properties, and he got Mrs.
Badger to agree to give the privy tithes towards payment of the said stipends--
but nothing came of it. The inhabitants of Cheltenham and Charlton Kings had
to put up with this situation until in 1620 they could stand it no longer

and made z petition to Sir Francis Bacon, now Lord Verulam and Lord Chancellor
of England, He responded by taking Mrs. Badger to task for depriving the
parishioners of their spiritual food by not paying for the two chaplains and
two curates -- paying only £15 p.a. for two curates. He said, however, that

he would not haul her to court if she would reform and pay £40 each for two
chaplains and another £10 each for two deacons. Unfortunately, external events
once again frustrated the affair -- ’'the said Lord Chancellor was removed

from office', {on a charge of corruption) and action on his letter ceased.

By now there was only one recourse - a petition to the XKing, and this was
made on 17 February 1621/2. Alas! the King bounced the matter straight back
to the Bishop of Gloucester (now Dr. Smythe), but Dr. Smythe was 'one to
give very small stipends to his curates....... so we did not trouble him with
that business’.

The next development was an arrangement for arbitration, by an influential
friend of Mrs. Badger, Mr. Endimion Porter ('a great favourite of the Dukes').
He ruled that Mrs. Badger should pay £40 p.a., to the chaplains but when she
appealed he reduced it to £20 for 5 years. Astonishingly, Mr. Thomas Packer,
said to be acting for the parishioners, abated this by another £5. All this
was in a covenant (1621/2) of which a crucial clause was that if any dispute
on the terms should arise, it would be referred to the Lord Bishop of Lincoln,
Keeper of the Great Seal of England and Lord Chancellor.

S50 much for the legal manoeuvres so far. What of the incumbents themselves all
this time? John Stubbe only starts this aspect of the story just before the
1621/2 covenant was obtained. The then minister of Charlton Kings, Mr. Wells,
departed and a Mr, Winsmore, 'a wandering minister, having wife and children'
was sent to officiate at Charlton by Dr. Smythe. However, another man, Mr,
Walker had already heen preaching in Charlton Kings on the understanding that
he would leave when the stipend was increased. Furthermore a Mr, Hugh Williams
inveigled the Bishop into giving him a letter to officilate in Charlton Kings
toa! But Mr. Winsmore complained, Mr. Williams was dispatched --- and Mr.
Walker settled in, though still promising to give way in due course. When he
heard, however, that the stipend really was going to bhe increased, he felt he
would rather like to stay and enjoy it. So he wrote to the Bishop ('he
underhand informed the Bishoppe'), Sir Baptist Hicks and other influential
people in the case in March 1621/2, alleging that the parishioners were out to
deprive him of his livelihood without just cause, and asking for assistance
'in the better establishment of me heare', and for '"the augmentation of the
means for better furnishing of my study'.

He got short shrift from Thomas Packer: if all the inhabitants are against him,
perhaps it 1s his fault. 'The allowance is intended for a very worthy preacher
and good scholar..... small hope that you can supply the place'. Mr. Walker
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was advised to look for another post by next Michaelmas. But support was
forthcoming from Sir Baptist Hicks, who stocd wholly for Mr. Walker, sc the
two churchwardens and 85 parishioners (-all male!) petitioned the Bishop to
provide 'some sufficient man instead of Mr. Walker to officiate the cure’,
since Mr. Walker was unfit for the job, 'defective in his place and duety,
giving content to none, but dayly much disliked to all'. Actually the Bishop
thought Mr, Walker not dishonest nor lacking in learning, though he 'could
not justifie him in all respects’, and if he had not agreed to go the Bishop
would have been glad to let him stay. The Bishop suggested that a sum of
money should be given to Mr. Walker on departure, say £40, to be raised as
might be appropriate. But neither the Higgs family nor the parishioners would
accept the charge, so Mr. Walker stayed put.

The parishioner's next recourse therefore was to the Lord Bishop of Lincoln,

and a case was accordingly presented against the Higgs family and the Trustees
{Timothy Cartwright, Daniel Fowler, et ceteri). Incidentally it refers to the
stipends agreed in the covenant of 1621/2 as E55 p.a. to the two ministers

(of whom one at least should be an Oxbridge M.A.)} for 5 years, after that,

£80 p.a. The trustees claimed to have no responsibility in the matter; the
Higgs humbly entreated the court that buying the estate and term in the premises
had got them so far into debt that it would take more than three years to
discharge it, so they wanted to be spared the need for paying the full stipends.
The court ordered all of them to show cause by June 1624 why they should not
implement the covenant and no cause was shown as of 8 June 1624.

All this time Mr. Walker continued at Charlton 'with a full purpose and
resolucon not to departe or give way tc any other upon any condicon whatsoever,
being supported hy my Lo: Bishopp and Sir Baptist Hicks, but especially by

the Fermers(i.e. the Higgs family) in regard that he contented himself with the
olde stipendes’. Mr. Richard Brooke, B.D. of five years standing and senior
fellow of Trinity College, Oxford, had been recommended for the post by Dr.
Benefield and Mr. Anthony Clapton of Corpus Christi College, so the churchwardens
and parishioners of Cheltenham and Charlton Kings again petitioned the Bishop
of Lincoln (8 June 1624). This time the problem was the partitioning of the
agreed £55 p.a. (to become £80 p.a. after five years) hetween Mr. William
Panton, minister in Cheltenham for the last 30 years, and the new man in
Charlton Kings, Richard Brooke, who was better qualified. The proposal was

that Mr. Panton should receive £20 and Mr. Broocke the rest. A decree from the
Bishop on 30 June directed that this should be done.

Now Mr, Walker, hearing that Mr. Brooke had been recommended to be minister

in Charlton Kings wrote to Dr. Ketle, president of Trinity College on 5§ July
1624: '..... Sir, I have for 4 yeeres space almost compleate, taken much paynes

in preaching at Charleton Kings, being heare placed by the Lo: Bishop of

Glouc and Sir Baptist Hicks where 1 have undergon much persecucon by such

amongst us as have wthstood all gratious proceedings by my meanes and have set

up foolish and prophane vanities, as namely a somerpole on Whitsonday, Churchalls*
on the Lords daie, dancyng in tyme of prayer, a drum ratling about the church

in tyme of exercises in the temple, patronizing of fornicacon without satisfaccon
to the church, putting idlings to the temporall court. And wheras I endevor still
to suppresse vice only in my sermons they are as maliciously bent against me...'
He asks Dr. Ketle to persuade Mr. Brooke not to go ahead with supplanting him

and ends his letter: 'So wishing that John Stubbe my neighbour were more wise
towards God and less wise to the world with the remembrance of my duty, I humbly
take my leave, leaving you to the proteccon of the Highest and resting ever

your worships in the Lo: to be comended R. Walker'. But to no avail. Mr. Brooke
was appointed and went to Gloucester to procure his licence for Charlton Kings

on 17 July 1624. On the next Sunday Mr. Broocke appeared at Charlton Kings and
ousted Mr. Walker. However, the arrangement was that Mr. Panton and Mr, Broocke
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should preach on alternate Sundays at Cheltenham and Charlton Kings, and a

few weeks later on the Sunday when Mr. Brooke was in Cheltenham, Mr. Walker

got to church in Charlton Kings early before Mr. Panton - and took the service.
At evensong there was a great argument when Mr. Brooke came - and Mr, Walker
took the service again. The following Sunday the church door was kept locked
until Mr. Brooke arrived, but Mr. Walker turned up with some of Mr. Higgs' men
{? his 'heavies'?) and tried to push in before Mr. Booke. But he was restrained
and John Stubbe told him he would 'never more serve in this church unless he
could recover it by the due course of law', and Mr. Walker never intruded again,.

Soon after this, Mr. Panton died, and unwittingly introduced a whole new dimen-~
sion into the matter. The irrepressible Mr. Walker asked Sir Baptist Hicks to
get him the Cheltenham job, and a letter was sent to the Bishop of Gloucester
with that end in view., However, the Bishop had already licensed a Mr, English
to the job, and having done so, promptly died, before Sir Baptist's letter was
delivered. Sir Baptist Hicks was clearly annoyed: 'the parishioners were
threatened to be sued in the Chancery by Sir Baptist Hicks, and our chancellor
tould us he was like to be questioned for his office for licensing Mr. English’'.
S5ir Baptist's claim - the new dimension - was that he alone had the right to
nominate ministers to the two parishes, and this started a lot of consultations
with learned counsel, on both sides, while Sir Baptist took the matter to the
Archbishop of Canterbury in an attempt to have the Archbishop license Mr.
Walker for Cheltenham. John Stubbe records the views of one counsel: 'It is
noted that neither the King nor any of his predecessors before the sale nor
Francis Morrice, Fra: Phillips nor Sir Baptist Hicks since the purchase did
ever nominate any ministers to these churches, but only the Bishop of the
Diocese: and since the sale the Bishop of the Diocese has nominated Mr. Eiston,
Mr. Wells, Mr. Winsmore, Mr. Walker and Mr. Brooke to Charleton ...' The
parishioners may have felt reassured, but Sir Baptist Hicks was not going to
let the matter rest. However before we approach the denouement, we must pick
up another thread which Mr. Panton's death left dangling.

When Mr. Panton at Cheltenham and Mr. Brooke at Charlton were the appointed
ministers, the stipend had been unequally divided between them. With the
appointment of Dr. English to Cheltenham, also a B.D. and a Fellow of Bazlliol
College, Oxford, the churches then had two equally qualified ministers and it
seemed reasonable to divide the stipends equally between them. But this was
easier said than done, especially since at some time the parishioners had agreed
to make up the stipend from £55 to the £80 which the Higgs ought to have been
paying. It was necessary to obtain an order from the Bishop of Lincoln, and
yet another petition was presented to him, on 28 January 1624/5. It rehearsed
much of the history of the case with emphasis on the amount of the stipend and
the way it had been divided in the past. The Bishop of Lincoln was cautious
and wanted to be sure that the parishioners really accepted this idea of making
up the stipends, so he noted re. the petition: 'Let all the inhabitants of the
parishes see this petition and if they shall certifie under their hands that =
decree shall passe by their consent, I will make an order to that effect'., So n
certificate was prepared and signed on behalf of the ministers and parishioners
by 'Jo: Lymerick, Ric Banaster, parishioners of Cheltenham; J. Stubbe, 3am.
Deighton, parishioners of Charleton; Alex. Packer, one of the churchwardens of
Charleton'. No doubt to make sure that the Bishop was assured of no protest
from the ministers concerned, Tho: Packer added a note: 'May it please your

Lp I know the preachers to be willing to have the stipend divided equally
between them'. Whether the Bishop ighored thils, or whether protocol required
the full restatement of the case is not clear. But a second petition (not
dated) is recorded, re-stating the case as in the earlier one, and adding that
the petitioners have now 'procured a certificate from Mr, Packer of the
parishes' conformity under his hand for the equall divicon of the said
gtipend....' The Bishop's annotation says 'Let an order be drawn to that
effect, and this shall be your warrant. J.L.C.'
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John Stubbe may be forgiven for recording a heartfelt comment: 'It will
appeare by the peticons and certificate subscribed howe much adue we had to
gett the said order to passe for the divicon of the ministers stipends’.

More ado was to come, however. The Higgs family, on the instigation of Sir
Baptist Hicks, who wanted to test the claim that he alone could appoint
ministers, absolutely refused to pay any stipends at all, and 'the more we
(J. Stubbe and others) intreated Sir Baptist the more vioclent he was against
us'. After various stormy episodes, the case was taken to the court of
Chancery.

In comnection with this suit, an interrogatory - a document outlining the

case in the form of questions to be put to-the Higgs brothers - was prepared
though not actually used. It reveals a little more of the violence of the
arguments that tock place. For example: 'Pid Toby Packer and Robt Packer

gent two of the plts (plaintiffs) then churchwardens of Cheltenham and Lo:
Packer John Packer and Sam. Deighton gent together with John Sturmy .....
parishioners of Cheltenham aforesaid or any of them come to yor house upon
Thursday 3 Feb last past, and show you the said writ of execucon of the said
order under seale and read the same unto you and deliver unto you a copy thereof,
and demand 6-17-6 due untc the said John English for one quarter of a yeere then
past by vertue of the said decree and order. Did you thereupon say, that they
were a company of scabnells (2) or scabnell fellowes or words to the lyke
effect? Or what words of disgrace did you then use towards them also saye

unto the said Lodowicke Packer that he came creeping in unto you lyke a bhody
louse or words to the lyke effect? Or what words of disgrace did you then use
towards them or any of them at such tyme as they came to serve you with the
saide writte?'

It is a relief to report that Sir Baptist Hicks' c¢laim to nominate ministers was
on this occasion firmly dismissed, the Higpgs family were ordered to pay the six
months' stipends which they had withheld, and pay the legal charges incurred by
the parishes in taking them to court. This time the Higgs really did pay up.

So, after 15 years or more of petitioning, arguing, suing - after 'much adue’

as John Stubbe said - the inhabitants of Cheltenham and Charlton Kings got thelr
properly gualified ministers, and the ministers finally received their due and
proper stipends. What a contrast with life in the church today!

H. Middleton

(1) G.R.0. D855 M68. I am indebted to Mrs., Mary Paget for drawing my
attention to this story.
(2) The word 'scabnell' does not appear in the Oxford English Dictionary,

Can any reader enlighten me?

3. SIR BAPTIST HICKS, JESUS COLLEGE, OXFORD, AND THE LIVING

The long dispute over the stipends and the right to present to the two livings
appeared to have been settled in 1624; but in fact this was not the end of the
story. Sir Baptist Hicks in 1612 had bought both rectory and advowson from the
crown; but his purchase could not become effective till the various leases
already granted by the crown ran out, This would not happen till 1652, Mean-
while, in anticipation of the event, he came to an agreement in 1629 with Jesus
College, Oxford, dividing responsibility for finding proper ministers between

the College and his heirs., The scheme meant that never again could a man without
a degree (and so unable to preach) be forced on either parish.















~22_

Instaur <<n* J744

. )

-\\\'\\\\Q‘A

K Veusr 923

+DIEV+ET MON+DROIT

- r— ~
GO )R N Y
*

| JOHN HOULDER & SAM: WHITHORNE CHURCHWARDENS 1669
== = = —_—

The Arms drawn by K. Venus




-23-

These would be the arms placed in the church by the church-wardens, In 1688
James II left the country and was replaced by his son-in-law and his daughter,
William and Mary. There were two early versions of their arms but in the latter
part of 1689 the Stuart arms were re-adopted with an escutcheon of Nassau (for
William) on top. One can only guess that the then churchwardens breathed a

sigh of relief that they had not been precipitate in ordering a whole new coat
of arms to be painted, and had someone paint the new lion on its field strewn
with small rectangles called billets over the original shield,

By 1744, when the note at the top of the display indicates further alterations,
the shield should have been completely changed, except for the Irish harp. This
has not been done but the cypher G2R, for George II, appears. It is interesting
to speculate about the letter G in this. Originally it would have been C2R for
Charles 11. Had the churchwardens altered this to W, or W & M, when the
escutcheon was painted on? Or had they left the C so that it was easy, and
inexpensive, to add a few brush strokes in 1744 and turn C into G?%

Apart from the shield and the initials of the various monarchs the painting
would scarcely have had to be changed from 1600 to the present day. The Garter
surrounds the shield, as it does the shield of every member of this order. On
top of the shield is & royal helmet, facing out and with bars over the opening.
Over this is the crest that has been used by Kings since Edward IITI. The lion
has long been an England supporter, though its partner has varied; James I
brought the unicorn from Scotland. The motto was first used by Richard I and
was re-introduced by Edward III. With occasional departures (Elizabeth I and
Anne used 'Semper eadem') this has been in use ever since.

(2) The Arms over the Chancel Arch

These arms are the ones in use from 1816 to 1837. The Arms of France had been
omitted since 1801; the French had executed their last king so it appeared
pointless (and dangerous?) to claim the throne of France. After the Union with
Ireland it seemed best to give equal prominence to the arms of England, Scotland
and Ireland, so they were given a quarter of the shield each; the last quarter
was given, in accordance with heraldic custom, to the arms in the first gquarter.
Since the King was then also ruler of Hanover the arms of Hanover were shown

on an escutcheon on top of the shield., These consist of the arms of Brunswick,
Luneburg and Westphalia. The ruler of Hanover was an Elector of the Holy Roman
Emperor and was also Arch-Treasurer of the Empire. This latter office is shown
by a crown placed at the top of the escutcheon of Hanover.

When Victoria became Queen in 1837 she was excluded from the throne of Hanover
on account of her sex, The arms of that state were removed and the Royal Arms
assumed their present form.

Other features in the Achievement have not changed since the days of the
achievement in the baptistry but the sculptor has allowed himself some artistic
licence. The supporters are shown in a very relaxed posture with their lower
parts out of sight. Although the liomn which forms the crest is shown on a
recent photograph, I was unable to see it when I visted the church. The garter
is correctly shown with its motto but the royal motto is left out, perhaps a
tactful measure as it probably originally referred to the King's claim to parts
of France. The unicorn's horn, if it has one, is very hard to see. This horn
was highly prized in ancient times as it was believed to be an antidote to all
poisons. Any failure in this function at the present time may be because the
unicorn's horns on display in museums etc. are in fact tusks of the narwhal.

J. C. Soulsbhy, M.A.
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According to one of Middleton's drawings, the chancel had a four-light window
at the east end. This must have been inserted in 1822-4 - can Lovesey as Lay
Rector have given it? Something was certainly being done to improve the
sanctuary; Alexander Nicholson of East Court gave a silver flagon, "a rich
velvet covering for the Communion table", ocak panelling and railing, and "two
Handsome antique chairs". For these gifts he was warmly thanked in 1828.

Only minor alterations were made between 1824 and 1877. By 1846 the clock's
dial needed regilding, and the parish had yearly maintenance contracts with
clock repairers (GRO P 76 CW 2/18). The church was heated by two stoves, with
a boiler and chimney in each transept; new stoves were put in by Mr. Hancock
in 1856, when he was paid £9.15.6 for fitting them up. "Two well-secured
stoves'" were allowed in the insurance policy of 1865. About 1859 a new organ
was acguired (but not paid for by the parishioners). Staging for childrens'
seats was put into the south transept in 1860 and into the north transept in
1864. Lighting was still by candles (not lamps) till in 1B62 the first gas
bill appeared in the churchwardens' accounts and the pew-opener Mrs. Timbrell
got a regular fee for lighting and attending to the gas, ls for Sundays when
there were two services and 6d for Thursdays. Gas lighting is mentioned in
the 1865 insurance. Bills for whitewashing or colcuring the church occur
throughout the period (keeping walls clean is a problem when a church is
plastered). At some point before 1868, the three-decker pulpit was removed by
Gabb. The resulting row is mentioned in his Obituary (Parish Magazine April
1893) but as no item in connection with the chanpe occurs in the churchwardens’
bocks, the Vicar probably paid for the work himself.

M. Paget

6. THE CHURCHYARD AND ITS WALL

(1) The old churchyard

"In the Parish of Charlton Kings which contains between 3 and 4 thousand
Tnhabitants the only Burial Place is the Church Yard the extent of which is
less than an acre of Ground. The Rectory is an Impropriation and the
Impropriator has for about 40 years past claimed and exercised the privilege

of disposing of the Vaults and Brick graves in the Church yard at his pleasure,
only allowing to the Parishioners as such the right of being buried in one part
of the Church Yard with the burden of keeping up the Church Yard fences and
Walks" - the churchyard then terminated at the path round the south and east

of the church.

"The Sexton is appointed by the Perpetual Curate and obeys the Impropriator.
The common part of the Church Yard is filled with Graves, so much so, that in
making a new Grave there, it frequently happens that the remains of persons
previously buried are disinterred. In a few instances, the Impropriator has
sold Brick graves in this part also'.

In this "Sketch of the Case™ (GRO P 76 8P 1/5), Mr. Gael explains why an exten-
sion of the churchyard was needed. He goes on tc explain the obstacles facing
the Vestry when it sought toc remedy the situation.

"Around 1833, the Want of Burial Space began to be felt and an endeavour was
made to throw into the Church Yard a piece of Ground on the south side, being
the site of a Building called Church House belonging to certain Charity Trustees
(See sketch p 26 ). The Trustees were willing to give the Ground and the
Church Building Commissioners were applied to on the subject and they also
consented. But it being considered that under the Church Building Acts the
freehold would on consecration vest in the Impropriator and he intimated his
intention to extend thereto the practice of selling Vaults, the Parishioners
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declined to incur the expences of getting the ground consecrated, and the
project was abandoned".

Gael's report was submitted to the Church Building Commissioners by the Vestry
with a request for an opinion on the lawfulness of the Impropriator's claim
after the passage of certain Church Building Acts, in particular 8 and 9 Vic

¢ 70, PBut the Commissioner's reply, read on 7 November 1851, was considered
to leave the question too open to be satisfactory. In the circumstances, the
Vestry decided that "negociations should be opened with him (i.,e. the
Impropriator C. W. Lovesey) to ascertain whether he will accept any, and what
compensation for the soil of the Churchyard with the view that the same may be
under the control of the Parish Officers, and be kept in a decent and becoming
condition”. 1In January 1852 "it was reported that Mr. Lovesey had agreed to
take £200 for his rights and it was resolved that the money required should be
raised forthwith". A paper was drawn out accordingly and afterwards submitted
to members of the Committee. ''Subscribers of 15 gns or of 20 gns should have
burial places allotted to them in the back or in the front of the existing
Churchyard according to their subscription should they choose to take them".
By 27 February next nearly all the money required had been collected. (GRO P
76 SP 1/1). By May 1852 the draft conveyance was produced and two days later,
Trustees for the Church Yard were appointed by the Vestry. In November the
Committee reported '"that at length the Church Yard has been conveyed to and is
now vested in the Trustees approved by the Vestry on the fourth day of June last
and that the deed of conveyance will be deposited in the Parish Chest as soon
as it has been enrolled in Her Majesty's Court of Chancery. In the conveyance,
the vault and tomb of the family of the late C. W. Lovesey have been exempted
from passing to the Trustees. The claims of parties who had purchased burial
rights of the late C. W. Lovesey or his Trustees were also saved".

The Committee then suggested rules for the future management of the Churchyard.
(1) The management was to be vested in the Minister and Churchwardens.

(2) "Parties who had purchased burial rights of the late C. W. Lovesey or his
Trustees to be permitted to enjoy them without any restriction subject
only to the hitherto customary payment of one guinea for each permission
to reopen a bricked grave or vault",

(3) In all other parts of the churchyard, parties who were allowed to make or
reopen bricked graves or vaults or to place on any grave flat stones or
head and foot stones were to be at liberty to use their own workmen and
materials.

(4) "No coffin unless made of lead or placed within well-cemented stone or
brick-work to be deposited less than four feet beneath the surface of the
ground”.

Lots of burial ground were to be apportioned to those who had contributed to the
purchase money - their names are given. The proceeds of charges in connection
with burials were to be placed at the disposal of the Perpetual Curate for his
private use. A Board of Trustees was aﬁpointed.

(2) Churchyard extension

Before any of these negotiations had been begun, back in April 1851, the
Committee had reached the obvious conclusion "that the existing Church Yard
which contained only 23,089 sq feet could in no way be adequate for the needs of
the parish” (GRO P 76 SP 1/1) and had constituted Sir William Russell, Nathaniel
Hartland and Charles Cooke Higgs a sub-committee to look out for an eligible
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piece of ground to serve as a new Parochial burial ground. This was not an
easy task. They inspected several sites and reported on 7 November 1851:
No.1l Miss Rodway's ground adjoining the Cirencester Road. This is not to be
gold. No.2 The field next to No.1l. The owner Mrs. Taylor demands much too
large a sum for this. No.3 The field called Mr. Lovesey's Piece. This is
not to be sold at present’.

In February 1852 the Church Yard Committee submitted a memorandum. Having
considered the possible alternatives, they considered that "the properties at
the East end of the Church Yard would be best fitted for the purpose of en-
larging it'" and authorized Mr. Parry {(acting under the advice of Mr. Gael) to
enter into correspondence with the owners of the properties to ascertain whether
it will be expedient and practicable to complete a contract for the purchase of
those properties at sums not exceeding £500 and £150". The properties were
separated from the old churchyard only by a narrow footpath (the path round

the east end of the church). To speed matters up, members of the Committee

had taken upon themselves the responsibility of purchasing at once, and by

3 December 1853 had done so.

No.1 "Mr. Powells'. This consists of three 0ld Cottages and gardens". These
were copyhold of Ashley Manor but Sir William Russell had offered to
enfranchise. Price paid £135. Property now vested in Russell.

No.2 "Messrs. Harwards. This consists of three Cottages and a piece of Ground
at the back'", with right to a pew in the church. Ashley copyhold. After
various difficulties, this was purchased for £450 and surrendered to
Russell.

No.3 "This consists of an o0ld House called Church Cottage and land adjacent". It
was freehold but the Proprietor Mr. Newman declined to sell "unless an
eligible Investment could be provided for his Money" (he did not trust
banks). The solution was that Gael should exchanpge some land of his own
contigious to Newman's land near the reservoir of Cheltenham Waterworks
(Hewletts). Newman was to receive a money payment as well, retain his
pew in church and have possession of the building material, except that of
the boundary wall, when Church Cottage was pulled down. In 1852 a tenant
had a valid lease so demolition could not begin at once, The final purchase
price was estimated at £447.10.0, and eventually Gael bought the pew for £45.

"It was estimated that the purchase price of all these properties together was
£1032.10.0. In addition, there would be law expenses attending the Purchasge
and Exchange, cost of Surveyors and Agency fees, and some charge for interest
on money borrowed to pay the purchase monies".

There was, too, the site of 0ld Church House south of the church which they had
hoped to throw into the churchyard in 1832, It was recommended that a sum not
exceeding £20 be offered to the Charity Trustees - since the land was unused
and likely to remain so, they would probably accept.

Now there was the footpath between the old Church Yard and the new land. It
was considered doubtful (according to Gael in a letter to Gabb) if the bishop
would consecrate ground with a public right of way across it. It was therefore
proposed to extinguish this right and replace it by a new carriage way from
Hollow Lane to Church Street. This was done., It is New Street.

Next the Committee suggested "a scale of charges for the ground which is
supposed to be in plots with front and back approaches:
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£ d
1. with liberty to (1) Bricked Grave front single 6 0
b
erect stone tombs (2) . " " " double 10 10 0
Oor monuments
{(3) Bricked Grave back single 4 4 0
(4) " " "  double 7 7 0
(5) If Rails are added, extra 2 2 0
(6) Common Grave in intermediate space 0 0] 0
(7) Common with liberty to erect head
and foot stones without rails 15 0
Fees for Ingcriptions payable to the Minister
On Head and Foot stone 7 6
On Flat stone 10 6
On Tomb or Monument 1 1 0]
To the Parish
(8) For Re-opening Bricked Grave 10 6
(9) For Re-opening Common Grave having
head and foot stone and being at
least 9 feet deep & 0

("these are the Sexton's fees in Cheltenham™)

Non-parishioners were to pay considerably more.

It is made clear that these are proposed fees "suggested to afford the means of
calculating the probable proceeds of the ground. The Average Number of bricked
Graves required annually may be taken to be 10 and the income thence derivable

at £75",

{3) The Churchyard wall

In 1853 it was decided "That it is most desirable to surround the old as well
as the new Churchyard with a dwarf wall and iron railing, so that the whole may
be kept free from the desecrations to which open burial grounds are exposed”.

A report of the Committee and parish officers dated 20 March 1854 (GRO P 76 SP
1/2) gives details of the wall "The railing to be 3 £t 9 ins high and three-
quarters of an inch thick, of wrought iron with each bar let into the coping and
one iron stay between each pair of piers excepting where the distance between
the piers is too little to require it, the wall to be built of werthen (7)
stone 10 inches wide and 21 inches high with Cleeve Hill coping fourteen inches
wide and six inches deep werthered off on both sides, the stonework to be
supported on bricked arches under the level of the ground of 12 feet span 14
inches width, having a double or nine inch arch and a base three feet square
with 3 setts off, put in eleven feet deep". For the base of the piers and up-
right sides and crowns of the arches old materials on the ground, i.e. from the
demolished properties, might be used. The rest of the work was to be in new
materials, The entry was to be by two double gates five feet 2 inches wide.
Later it was decided that an iron bar was to be added to the railing above the
coping. A tender from Mr. J. Cornell for £685 was accepted. His work has
stood well.

{4) Re-imbursement of purchase money

By 1854 (GRO P 76 SP 1/2) the land required for the new churchyard and the
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7. A TRAGEDY IN THE CHURCHYARD

From the Cheltenham Examiner, March 14th, 1855:

A Gravedigger Buried Alive

On Monday evening much excitement was caused in the village of Charlton Kings
by a fatal accident which befell a man named Stephen Curtis, while engaged

in building a vault in the parish churchyard. It appears that the deceased
Curtis, a man named Richard Shayler, and another, were engaged on Sunday

and Monday in excavating the vault, and about 2 p.m. on Monday they had got

to a sufficient depth, say 12-14 feet. About that time Shayler, who had been
at work at the bottom of the pit, called upon Curtis to come and take his
place, as he had to go to the church to toll the bell. Shayler continued absent
for about an hour, and on his return found that Curtis had commenced the
brickwork and he accordingly proceeded to assist him in carrying the bricks down
a ladder, and placing them at his side at the bottom of the vault. While they
were 50 occupied, deceased being in a stooping position, adjusting the bricks,
the side of the vault suddenly fell in, burying the men under a heap of sand
several tons in weight. Shayler, who happened to be standing at the time, was
covered all but one of his arms, but by the exertion of the bystanders, he was
got out in about a quarter of an hour; but the poor man Curtis was completely
imbedded in the loose sand, which, as it continued to run in almost as fast

as it was dug out, rendered his extrication a slow process, and when at last
the body was got out, it was found that he was quite dead; death having been
caused, in the opinion of the medical man, by suffocation., The sides of the
vault were supported in the usual manner under the supervision of Mr. Parry,
but the sand being of a very fine description at this spot, the usual
precautions were unavailing. The sand-slip extended for several yards beyond
the side of the wvault.

The Jury, on these facts being proved before them, returned a verdict of
"Accidental Death': but suggested that the churchwardens should immediately
take the matter into their consideration, with a view to devise some means

by which vaults or graves might be dug without the persons so engaged incurring
the risk of falling sand. They refrained from pointing out any precise plan

by which this might be done; but Mr. Gael, one of the churchwardens, promised
that the subject should receive their anxious attention. The model of a cross
supporter, which would fasten the planks by means of a screw, was produced,
which would be far superior to the present systen.

Simon Fletcher

8. RESTORATION AND AFTER

The Revd. F.E. Witts had visited Charlton on 22 April 1824 and approved of

the alterations to the church "the whole will be very neat"” (The Diary of

a Cotswold Parson p.37). "Neat"” was the height of commendation just then.

So it came as a shock to parishioners (very many of whom had seen the galleries
put in to gemneral approbation) to be told in 1875 that galleries in churches
were an abomination and must be removed. After 41 years, Gabb had retired and
the new incumbent Charles Leslie Dundas came with burning zeal to restore.
Speaking after the work had been completed, he described the first visit he
paid with Mrs. Dundas "in the midst of a drenching rain one November day, and
the somewhat gloomy impression which they consequently carried away with them...",
No doubt there was room for change, but it need not have been nearly so
drastic. For this we must blame the architect John Middleton. But Dundas had
no appreciation of the antiquity of St. Mary's - in a letter he described the
old church as '"very ugly, very uncomfortable, and very badly ventilated".
(Jesus College archives).
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1> 1876-8

At a Vestry meeting held on Easter Tuesday 1876, the Parish Magazine (them in
its first year) recorded "unanimously Resolved that the complete restoration
of the Church comprising the removal of the Galleries, the extension of the
fabric westwards by a bay and a half and the re-seating of the whole floor

of the Church, should be carried out as soon as the state of the funds will
permit”. In fact, the meeting was very far from unanimous. Colonel Holmes of
Whithorne is said to have jumped on the table and shaken his fist in the
Vicar's face! (1) and he was not the only opponent of the scheme. Gael
{speaking as churchwarden at a luncheon given after the hishop had re-opened
the church) admitted this. "The opposition which had been made was not in a
Ppirit of hostility but from a feeling of reverence for old associations
¢onnected with their parish Church, which were almost of a sacred character;
and also with regard to burial rights. However, the one would in time, no
doubt, diminish, and the other had been settled by compromise ---" (Parish
Magazine May 1878). Those who wanted the church left alone had no chance; a
faculty for the work was acquired in January 1877 and removal of the galleries
began directly after Easter 1877. Services continued in the upper portion of
the church which was boarded off and seated with chairs.

"The removal of the flooring in the body of the church disclosed a state of
affairs in connection with the vaults beneath which amply accounted for the
unpleasant state of atmosphere which has been for some time notorious in
Charlton Church. It was indeed high time that these vaults should be filled

in with sand and covered with concrete --" (Parish Magazine May 1877). Burials
inside churches had been stopped in 1852 so none of these interments can have
been very recent; and I have been told that the real trouble was that the
church had got buggy. (2) The bones disturbed by the westward extension of

the church were re-interred at the south-west corner of the extended churchyard,
and a willow was planted to mark the spot. The willow has gone but the place

is still indicated by a slight bump.

Some of the gravestones outside may have been relocated; memorials on the
floor inside (and we know from Bigland how many there had been) were destroyed.
Concrete raised the level of the church to that of the ground outside and the
transept floors were raised still further. It is understandable that old
Charlton families did not like this total obliteration of the memorials to
their ancestors. Nor did they share Middleton's objection to anything not
gothic. They were unable to prevent him destroying the 12th century west
doorway, but they did dig in their heels about the rose window (2) which he
agreed to move (along with the two gargoyles) to the new west front.

In the first proposals for restoration it was not intended to alter the

0ld windows in the south wall, but once work was started, Middleton got
permission to remove them and substitute a large window each side of the
south door. He also persuaded the parish to allow him to remove the old nave
roof (which he admitted was sound), telling them that an entirely new roof
would cost no more than an extra 14 ft! This gave us our dark oak ceiling.
All plaster was removed from the walls. The new pillars designed by Middleton
are alternatively round and octagonal and though the effect is a little
restless the proportions are pleasing. Ten ornamental gas standards, with pink
glass shades, were installed. The contractor for all this work was Jones of
Gloucester.

Dundas dealt tactfully with the opposition and his enthusiasm was infectious,
The irate Colonel was asked to be Treasurer of the Restoration Fund and his
wife worked a kneeling mat for the Communion rail. Other ladies trained boys
for the new choir - for the first time the choir was to wear cassocks and
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surplices. Gifts poured in, but noticeably from new residents, not old Charlton
people.

Mrs. Clayton Daubeny of the Grange and her daughters gave the lectern. "It is
a handsome work, executed in polished brass and the design is that of a
reversible stand supported by four twisted columns (two of them terminating

in branched candlesticks) with a pedestal resting upon four lions. Upon the
base Mrs. Daubeny has had inscribed very suitable texts ---". The church
bible was rebound in two portions to suit the new lectern; and when experience
showed that the lectern was too low to be comfortable for the reader, Mrs.
Daubeny added the oak stand. Mr. Bush designed and made the Litary desk.

"A few friends in Charlton” presented the "very handsome Brass Altar Desk",
Miss Mcleod worked two Altar kneeling mats, Miss Rensch gave a white Altar
cloth for festivals and Mrs. Hunt two new Altar books with markers. The
Misses Willmott gave a hymnboard"” both useful and ornamental". The brass
font ewer was bought with offerings at the Childrens' Services - it cost
£4.6.0. The two Parish Guilds of St. Peter and St. Mary gave the silver-
mounted Cruet.

The restored church was re-opened by the bishop on 25 April 1878. Its
appearance must have been a surprise to anyone who had not been in touch with
the Restoration Committee and not realised the extent of the alterations.
However, a tea was provided in the school-room for 300 parishioners and the
general opinion was favourable. With plain glass windows, the church was very
light.

In June 1878, the Parish Magazine announced the next step, rebuilding the
chancel "It is with great pleasure that we announce that an offer to restore

the Chancel -- has been made by F. Dixon-Hartland Esq in combination with
other members of this Family, as a Memorial to the late Mrs. Hartland who was
s0 long resident at the Oaklands --- The Lay Impropriator C.W. Lovesey Esgq,

has kindly given his "full consent” to our acceptance of the offer",

The walls were built along the lines of the old foundations - there was no
attempt to enlargethe chancel - but new windows were inserted in the north
and south walls and a new 3-light window in the east wall, The magazine for

July 1878 reported:- "The Restoration of the Chancel is making satisfactory
progress under the guidance of the same contractor to whom the restoration
of the Nave was entrusted'-- All monuments were removed from the walls and

repositioned in the nave.

The chancel was re-opened on 7 November 1878. Miss Sarah Curry gave 'an
exceedingly beautiful Cross for the super-Altar --- worked in brass according
to a very handsome design and --- ornamented with crystals", Frederick
Dixon-Hartland gave "two handsome gas standards for the Chancel and a brass
alter rail” - this rail was rather graceful; it appears in old photographs

of the church, but was replaced in 1956 by an oak rail (which doesn't need
cleaning). Mrs. Holmes worked a cushion for the sedilia.
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of the 80s had struck Charlton and there simply was not the money in the
parish. Many who had worked on farms were unemployed, they and their families
being supported by wives who took in washing from Cheltenham. A group of
ladies raised money with a jumble sale and started cocking penny dinners for
the school children.

One extra problem, though a temporary one, faced the new Vicar. There was an
influx of navvies building the new Dowdeswell Reservoir and provision had

to be made for their welfare in cooperation with their own Missioner.

Thomas Moore, Vicar 1883-1886

The new vicar could afford to accept St. Marys because he already had a
pension for nearly 20 years work in India. He speaks of himself as crippled
from exposure in a snowstorm and for the last 5 years he had been Perpetual
Curate of Minsterley,:a rough lead-mining area of Shropshire - he thought the
Cheltenham climat.: suited '"0Old Indians", he already knew "some of the more
affluent”, and he had a brother at All Saints; so he pictured Charlton Kings
as "a neighbourhood where good houses are being built", where he might fairly
hope to succeed since he was ''pretty well known as a good preacher and
speaker" (Jesus College archives). He had not realised the nature or extent
of this parish, the distances he would have to walk to visit - he simply could
not do it. He was used to the pace of life in India and had not got Dundas's
enthusiasm and optimism. His coniributions to the Parish Magazines get
gloomier and gloomier.

At a Temperance Fete in May 1883, the weather was bad "The Vicar lost his voice
in trying the impossible feat of addressing 5000 people in the open air, many
of them swinging backwards and forwards in the creaking swings". In the same
spirit of attempting the impossible, he made a final appeal to the parish

on behalf of the schools but it fell on deaf ears though Mr Folley the master
was willing to take a reduction in his meagre salary - at the end of October
1883, the schools were actually closed until a School Board could be elected.

No collection for the Additional Curates' Fund had been taken so the parish
lost the £15 grant - that year’s money was made up by Mr Leighton and the curate
did receive the £70 he was entitled to up to the point when his services were
transferred to Holy Apostles; the difficulty then was to replace him at €80 a
.year, and yet a curate was essential when the Vicar was "well nigh worn out by
foreign service and great hodily weakness” (a fact he had not mentioned in his
letter of application). St. Mary's was without an assistant priest for 9 months,
which imposed a burden on the Vicar but lessened the strain on the church
accounts.

Moore had calculated that tiling the aisles could be done for £25, but actually
it cost £8.10.0 more than that, and money for this object came in slowly in
very small amounts. Rebuilding the north transept was achieved through a timely
legacy from Miss Willmott; but the transept seems to have been lengthened to
provide a small vestry for the choir boys (who entered by the new east door),
so her £200 wasinsufficient and a deficit remained. Only that debt prevented
Middleton from proceeding to "restore" the south transept. Moore wrote "It
seems a pity not to complete the Restoration by finishing the South Transept

in the same style as the rest of the Church; by inserting a window similar

to the other windows in place of the wretched one put in about 100 years

ago; lining the ceiling so as to correspond with the nave, seating the transept
so that it can be used for daily prayer and also, on Sundays; putting up
Screens to both the North and South Transept; in a word completing the design
as originally intended--" (Parish Magazine August 1885). Fortunately the

£200 it was expected to cost was never raised, though the south transept was
ceiled like the rest of the church.
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There was a row about seats, for there was still not sufficient seating
capacity. Moore complained that there were no pew rents (but then, in
Charlton Kings there never had been pew rents, pews had belonged to houses

and parishioners still thought they did!} One solution to the seating problem
wag to have a special service each week for the children - previcusly there
had been a Children's Service once a month - this freed 100 places. The

Vicar and churchwardens consulted "We hope to be able to give convenient

seats to all; but we agreed that we could not reserve seats beyond the commence-
ment of the service. Once the bell stops, all seats then unoccupied are free
to all comers, parishiconers or otherwise'. Obviously this arrangement was
going to lead to mere trouble.

A curate was eventually found for St. Marys and during the Vicar's illness

at Easter 1885, the curate's energy plus help from neighbouring clergy saved
the day. There was a problem that Easter about the debt on the north transept
"and some other debts incurred by the churchwardens amounting in all to %80

or £90., Through the kindness of the local gentry and the exertions of Mr Clarke,
this debt is nearly extinguished and we enter the year 1886 nearly clear of
debt”, a state of St. Mary's had not achieved for years. Members of the
Lovesey family had promised to fill the rose window with glass in memory of
the late Lay Rector C.W. Lovesey (11).

W.J. Mayne Vicar 1886-1892

Mayne was a brother of the Vicar of St Catharine’'s, Gloucester, and was the
gandidate preferred by the bishop (Jesus College archives). He came promising

tpo maintain the status quo, which he did; his parish letters are business-

like and intended to instruct. His immediate problem was the organ 'the instru-
ment has seen considerable service, having performed a leading part in the
service at St. Marys for 30 years, during which very little money has been

spent on it." A pnew one would cost £300, the old could be patched up for £58; of
caurse the parish chose the latter alternative. When the organ builder came to
look at the instrument in September 1889 "an examination of the pipes and

other internal fittings has shewn them to have been reduced to a desperate
condition through wear and want of cleaning and has proved that the work of
reparation and purification has not been begun a day too scon". Money for

the organ came in readily. The sanctuary plaster which had cracked was

replaced with white cement at the expense of Mr. J. Holder. The Vicar suggested
that an iron safe for the records "some of them decidedly old" might be paid

for by subscription, but nothing was done.

A new tower clock was bought to mark the 1887 Jubilee.
The need for mission reoms to serve outlying parts of the parish was first
mentioned in September 1880 and a beginning made in a room at the Ryeworth

Coffee Tavern, rented for 25 a week.

Thomas Hodsen, Vicar 1892-1906

Hodson had spent his boyhood in Russia and found it hard to understand the
attitude of Charlton pecople to church-going and the Eucharist (Parish Magazine
Cctober 1897), even though he had served 4 curacies and a Vicarage before

coming to St. Marys. He was not a strong man and he worried incessantly over

Fhe spiritual state of his people; he introduced high church practices for which
some of them were not ready; and he could be provoked into hasty speech which he
afterwards regretted. Yet he was described by one of his curates as having
helped to put him in the right road "in that quiet kind way many of you know

so well" (September 1897) and he was long remembered for his kindness to those

in trouble.































